
 

 

Lancashire County Council 
 
Commons and Town Greens Sub-Committee 
 
Thursday, 22nd September, 2011 at 10.00 am in Cabinet Room 'D' - County 
Hall, Preston  
 
Agenda 
 
Part 1 (Open to Press and Public) 
 
No. Item  
 
1. Apologies    

 
2. Constitution: Chair and Deputy Chair; Membership; 

Terms of Reference of the Commons and Town 
Greens Sub-Committee   

(Pages 1 - 4) 

 
3. Disclosure of Personal and Prejudicial Interests    

 Members are asked to consider any 
Personal/Prejudicial Interests they may have to 
disclose to the meeting in relation to matters under 
consideration on the Agenda. 

 

 
4. Minutes of the Meeting held on 7 February 2011   (Pages 5 - 8) 

 
5. Commons Act 2006  

Schedule 3 
Commons Registration (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2009 
 
Application for the Amendment of a Register in 
relation to Rights of Common being grazing rights 
registered as Entry 3 in the Rights section of 
Register Unit CL123, Black fell, Blanch Fell and 
Haylot Fell Littledale, Lancaster 
   

(Pages 9 - 16) 

 
6. Section 16 Commons Act 2006 

Application to de-register common land CL165 at 
Crook Hill, Whitworth, Lancashire and to provide 
replacement land  
   

(Pages 17 - 50) 

 
7. Consultation by the Department for Environment 

Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) on the Registration 
of New Town or Village Greens   

(Pages 51 - 112) 



 
8. Urgent Business    

 An item of urgent business may only be considered 
under this heading where, by reason of special 
circumstances to be recorded in the Minutes, the Chair 
of the meeting is of the opinion that the item should be 
considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 
Wherever possible, the Chief Executive should be 
given advance warning of any Member's intention to 
raise a matter under this heading. 

 

 
9. Date of Next Meeting    

 The next meeting of the Commons and Town Greens 
Sub-Committee will be held on Tuesday and 
Wednesday, 8 and 9 November 2011 at 10am at the 
County Hall, Preston. 

 

 
 I M Fisher 

County Secretary and Solicitor 
 

County Hall 
Preston 
 
 

 

 



 
 

Commons and Town Greens Sub-Committee 
Meeting to be held on 22 September 2011 
 
 

Electoral Division affected: 
All 

Commons and Town Greens Sub-Committee 
Constitution: Chair and Deputy Chair; Membership; Terms of Reference 
(Appendix ‘A’ refers) 
 
Contact for further information:  
Gary Halsall, 01772 533419, Office of the Chief Executive 
gary.halsall@lancashire.gov.uk 
 

 
Executive Summary and Recommendation  
 
The Sub-Committee is asked: to note: 
 

i. The appointment of County Councillor A Thornton and County Councillor S 
Leadbetter as Chair and Deputy Chair of the Sub-Committee for the 
remainder of the 2011/12 municipal year; 

ii. The membership of the Sub-Committee following the County Council’s 
annual meeting; and  

iii. The Terms of Reference of the Sub-Committee. 
 

 
Background and Advice 
 
The County Council at its annual meeting on 26 May 2011 agreed that the Sub-
Committee shall comprise 11 County Councillors (on the basis of 6 Conservative 
members, 2 Labour members, 1 Liberal Democrat member, 1 Green member and 1 
Idle Toad member).  It was also agreed that nominations of County Councillors to 
serve on the Sub-Committee should be submitted to the County Secretary and 
Solicitor by the respective political groups. 
 
The following County Councillors have subsequently been nominated to serve on the 
Sub- Committee for the following year: 
 
    County Councillors (11): 
 

T Brown M Parkinson 
C Coates P Rigby 
J Jackson T Sharratt 
T Jones P Steen 
S Leadbetter J Sumner 

A Thornton 
 

The Full Council also appointed County Councillor A Thornton and County Councillor 
S Leadbetter as Chair and Deputy Chair of the Sub-Committee for the remainder of 
the 2011/12 municipal year. 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



 
 

 
A copy of the Sub-Committee’s Terms of Reference is attached at Appendix ‘A’. 
 
Consultations 
 
N/A 
 
Implications:  
 
This item has the following implications, as indicated: 
 
Risk management 
 
There are no risk management implications arising from this item. 
 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 
List of Background Papers 
 
Paper Date Contact/Directorate/Tel 
 
Full Council papers 

 
26 May 2011 
 

 
Janet Mulligan, Office of 
the Chief Executive, 01772 
533361 
 

Reason for inclusion in Part II, if appropriate 
 
N/A 
 

Page 2



Appendix 'A' 
 

Commons and Town Greens Sub-Committee 

 
Composition and role 
 
The Sub-Committee shall be established by the Regulatory Committee and 
comprise eleven County Councillors to authorise appropriate alterations to the 
Registers of Common land and Town Greens. 
 
Meetings are open to the public but they may be excluded where information 
of an exempt or confidential nature is being discussed – see Access to 
Information Procedure Rules set out at Appendix ‘H’ to the Constitution.  
 
Terms of Reference 
 
The Committee shall carry out the following functions: 
 
1. To exercise the Council's powers under the Commons Registration 

(New Land) Regulations 1969 to register common land or town or 
village greens (except where the power is to be exercised solely for the 
purpose of giving effect to an exchange of land by an order under 
Section 19(3) or Schedule 3 of the Acquisition of Land Act 1981, or an 
order under Section 147 of the Inclosure Act 1845). 

 
2. To make recommendations to the Cabinet Member  

for Economic Development, Environment and Planning on matters 
under the Commons Registration Act 1965 as amended and 
Regulations thereunder where responsibility lies with the Cabinet. 

 
3. To amend the register in respect of rights of common under  

Regulation 29 of the Commons Registration (General) Regulations 
1966, namely to apportion, vary, extinguish, release or transfer a right 
of common. 

 
4. To exercise the duties powers and functions of the County Council as 

Registration Authority under Part 1 Commons Act 2006. 
 

Page 3



Page 4



 
 
Lancashire County Council 
 
Commons and Town Greens Sub-Committee 
 
Minutes of the Meeting held on Monday, 7th February, 2011 at 10.00 am in 
Cabinet Room 'C' - County Hall, Preston 
 
 
Present: 

County Councillor Albert Thornton (Chair) 
 

County Councillors 
 

T Brown 
J Jackson 
A Jones 
 

S Leadbetter 
P Rigby 
 

1. Apologies 
 

Apologies were received from County Councillors C Coates, B Mutch and J 
Sumner. 
 
2. Disclosure of Personal and Prejudicial Interests 

 
There were no disclosures of personal or prejudicial interests. 
 
3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 24 September 2010 

 
Resolved: That, the Minutes of the meeting held on the 24 September 2010 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chairman. 
 
4. Commons Act 2006 

Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2008 
 
Requirement to Amend a Register following the Registration of 
Ownership of part of CL184 Salt Marsh at Hambleton, under Land 
Registration Act 2002 
 

It was reported that a Notification from the Land Registrar that certain land had 
been registered under the Land Registration Acts which said land was registered 
Common Land being part of Common Land unit CL184. 
 
It was reported that the Registration Authority had received Notification from the 
Land Registrar of the registration of land under the title number LAN71315 shown 
on the plan referred to in the report as Appendix 'A' under the Land Registration 
Act 2002.  The said land was part of CL184 as shown on the plan referred to as 
Appendix 'B'. 
 
The Sub-Committee was advised that the Register should be altered as 
prescribed to reflect that ownership of a further part of CL184 was now registered 
at the Land Registry. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 5



 
 

 
Resolved: That the Ownership Section of the Common Land Register relating to 
common land unit CL184 be amended.  There was an ownership of part noted as 
being registered at the Land Registry; therefore the amendment should be by 
noting in accordance with Model Entry 23 that another part of the land had been 
registered under the Land Registration Act 2002. 
 
5. Commons Act 2006 

Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2008 
 
Application VG101 under section 15(8) of the Commons Act 2006 for 
registration of land at Barnoldswick, Pendle Borough, as a town or 
village green 
 

A report was presented on an Application by the owner of land at Barnoldswick, 
to be registered as a town or village green. 
 
The Sub-Committee was informed that in June 2010 an application to register 
two areas of open ground at Barnoldswick, Pendle Borough as a town or village 
green was accepted and duly made under S15(8) of the Commons Act 2006. In 
this case the Applicant was Pendle Borough Council and they had provided a 
plan of the area sought to be registered referred to in the report as Appendix 'B' 
along with evidence of them being freehold owners of the land under title 
LAN84048 at the Land Registry (Appendix 'C' to the report). 
 
The Sub-Committee was advised that the determination of applications by a 
registration authority was a quasi-judicial function and that there was a duty to act 
reasonably. If ownership was clearly proved but registration of the land would be 
incompatible with some other rights or status of the land it was suggested that 
consideration would need to be had to such information. 
 
The Sub-Committee was advised that Pendle Borough Council had registered 
freehold title of the application land. However, in respect of the north western 
section of the application land abutting Skipton Road, the mines and minerals 
and powers to work them were excepted from the freehold title and belonged to 
an unknown owner. 
 
The Sub-Committee was also advised that the applicant was the owner of a legal 
estate in fee simple in the application land although the unknown owner had 
some right to the minerals under the surface and also some right to working to 
extract those minerals. 
 
The Sub-Committee was informed that the procedure under the 2008 
Regulations required the Applicant to serve owners (Schedule 6) but the 
requirement to serve notice on an owner would not apply if that person could not 
reasonably be identified (Reg 22 (3)). The rights to mines and minerals were not 
registered as a separate title. 
 
It was reported that there was no recorded public rights of way across the land. 
However, there was a surfaced path across it. It was also reported that in respect 

Page 6



 
 

of the land South East of Cravenside, a Mr Bracewell and his heirs and assigns 
had the right of way from his land over so much of the land used to be the part of 
the Station yard laid open to Fernlea Avenue. The line of this right of way was not 
now clear and might be across the application land. The location of the old station 
yard and Mr Bracewell's original land was not known. 
 
The Sub-Committee was informed that Notices about the application to register 
the land as a town green were placed on site and at other locations but no 
representations had been received by the owner of neither the mineral rights nor 
the successors to Mr Bracewell.  
 
The Sub-Committee was also informed that the title also referred to the land in 
the Registered title being subject to wayleaves for utilities and a private right of 
way from Fernlea Avenue to the County Council land where Cravenside was built 
but the areas of land affected were not part of the application land. 
 
The Regulations provide for the Applicant to serve Notice of the Application on all 
occupiers of the land. However, Pendle Borough Council was not aware of 
anyone to serve as occupier. 
 
It was reported that the County Council had received one representation from a 
Mr Fielding. His objection letter was dated 4th November and was followed by 
two further letters dated 11th and 19th November referred to in the report as 
Appendix 'D'. The Sub-Committee was advised that the representation be taken 
into account and also the response to same from the Applicant referred to as 
Appendix 'E' in the report. However, it was suggested that the land would be 
better protected as a town green than not and that use would likely remain as it 
has done in the past and for the foreseeable future. 
 
The Sub-Committee was advised that the existence of the mines and minerals 
rights did not prevent Pendle Borough Council from being sufficient owner to 
apply for registration of the land as a town green and further that having no 
evidence as to how incompatible the rights would be if the land was a town green 
the Sub-Committee was advised that the excepted rights were not sufficient on 
balance for the application not to be accepted. The only objection received might 
be considered not sufficient to defeat the application.  
 
It was then moved and seconded that the Sub-Committee, having considered all 
the guidance and the information, agreed on balance that the application be 
accepted and the application land be added to the Register of Town Greens. 
 
 
 
Resolved: That the Application be accepted and the land shown on the plan with 
the application referred to in the report as Appendix 'B' be added to the Register 
of Town Greens and that appropriate Notice be given pursuant to the Statutory 
Regulations. 
 
 
 

Page 7



 
 

6. Date of Next Meeting 
 

The Sub-Committee was informed that it had been necessary to cancel the next 
scheduled meeting which was due to take place on Wednesday and Thursday, 
27 and 28 April 2011.  
 
The Chairman had agreed that the next meeting would now take place on 
Tuesday 19 April 2011 at 10am for a half day only. 
 
 
 
 I M Fisher 

County Secretary and Solicitor 
  
County Hall 
Preston 

 

 

Page 8



 
 

Commons and Greens Sub-Committee 
Meeting to be held on 22 September 2011 
 
 

Electoral Division affected: 
Lancaster Rural East 

 
Commons Act 2006  
Schedule 3 
Commons Registration (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2009 
 
Application for the Amendment of a Register in relation to Rights of Common 
being grazing rights registered as Entry 3 in the Rights section of Register Unit 
CL123, Black fell, Blanch Fell and Haylot Fell Littledale, Lancaster 
(Appendices 'A'  ‘B’ and 'C' refer) 
 
Contact for further information: 
Jane Turner, (01772) 532 813, Office of the Chief Executive 
jane.turner@lancashire.gov.uk 
 

 
Executive Summary 
 
An Application from William Alan Huddleston, Margaret Elizabeth Atkin, Christine 
Mary Sayer and Barbara Ruth Huddleston to register severance of the rights away 
from land at Bell Hill Farm and then subsequent transfer of rights to the Applicants 
which are rights in gross. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That the application to register the severance of rights and transfer in gross to the 
applicants jointly of the rights registered in Entry 3 of the Rights Section of CL123 
namely the right to graze sheep to a limit of 79 and a half sheepgates (one ewe 
together with followers and a hog counting as the sheepgate) over the whole of 
CL123 be accepted and the register be amended in accordance with the Commons 
Registration (England) Regulations 2008 as amended to register said severance 
and transfer. 

 

 
Background and Advice  
 
The Commons Act 2006 (the 2006 Act) makes provision for the registration of 
common land and of town and village greens.  Registration Authorities were created 
to maintain two registers, one for common land and the other for village greens.  The 
County Council is the Registration Authority for the County of Lancashire and has 
previously delegated powers and functions concerning alteration of the registers to 
the Commons and Town Greens Sub-Committee. 
 

Agenda Item 5

Page 9



 
 

The 2006 Act makes provision in Schedule 3 and by Regulations for commons 
registration authorities to amend their registers of common land and town or village 
greens in consequence of qualifying events which have happened since the 
Registers were closed under the 1965 Act. A severance and then transfer of rights in 
gross since 1970 not yet registered are such qualifying events and the application in 
this matter is that this has happened and should now be registered.   
 
It is apparent that the rights at present are registered as being the right to graze 
sheep to a limit of 79 and a half sheepgates (one ewe together with followers and a 
hog counting as the sheepgate) over the whole of CL123 (Appendix 'A' refers) and 
these rights are at the moment shown as attached to land at Bell Hill Farm Littledale 
as shown on the supplemental map with the Registers (Appendix 'B' refers).  
 
Copies of various Deeds have been provided. 
 
These show that the farm as shown on the supplemental map, along with its grazing 
rights, was purchased in 1951 by Edward and Mary Huddleston as shown on the 
Deed plan (Appendix 'C' which will be available at the meeting). Parts of the land 
have since been transferred. The first transfer was in 1985 and the grazing rights 
were expressly reserved to Edward and Mary Huddleston. It was a Deed of Gift of a 
small part of the farm and it was agreed and declared that it "does not include (and 
there are expressly reserved to the Donors) all those rights of common sheep and 
cattle gaits on Black Fell Blanche Fell and Haylot Fell appurtenant to Bell Hill Farm". 
It is arguable that this is when all the rights became severed but it is suggested that 
on balance it is not clear enough and it may be considered that only those rights 
attached to the small section being transferred were severed at this time. It is 
advised that these few rights were then held in gross by Edward and Mary 
Huddleston. 
 
There were further transfers in 1991 with rights retained by Mary Huddleston and a 
trustee, as Mr Huddleston had died. The Solicitors confirm the rights in gross passed 
to Mary Huddleston and Mr Gillibrand on the death of Mr Edward Huddleston. There 
was then a transfer of part of the farm in January 2002 but the rights were not 
mentioned and in August 2002 there was the transfer of most of the remainder of the 
land together with all the commons rights as per the 1951 purchase to the 
applicants.     
 
Notice of the application has been duly served according to the Regulations and no 
response has been received save for further details being requested by a 
neighbouring landowner but no objection raised and a visit to inspect the file by a 
rights holder. 
 
It is advised that if the application is well founded the appropriate amendment to the 
register shall be made.  The Statutory provisions specifically provide for amendment 
of the register in cases of severance and transfer of rights which are then rights in 
gross. 
 
It is advised that some rights were expressly reserved and thereby were not 
transferred with the land but became severed in 1985 and 1991.The small piece of 
land at the farm which has not been the subject of any transfer had any rights which 

Page 10



 
 

were attached to it sold separately in 2002 when all the rights were stated to be 
transferred to the applicants. 
 
The main difficulty would appear to be the sale of several fields in January 2002 with 
no mention of the rights. Usually this would mean that the rights attached to the land 
went with the land. Documentary evidence is usually required when considering an 
application for severance under Regulation 42 of the 2008 Regulations. Regulation 
42 provides that unless the instrument or other contemporary evidence showed an 
intention that the rights should be severed, the authority should not grant an 
application to register a severance. Guidance from DEFRA (para 10.5.10) says that  
a right of common may nevertheless be treated as having been severed even in the 
absence of contemporary written evidence, if the application shows that the right was 
subsequently treated as severed and there is no other explanation for that treatment 
but that the right must have been severed at that time. 
 
In this matter the Solicitors who acted for the purchasers in 2002 confirm that there 
was no intention to transfer any grazing rights and confirm that the purchaser makes 
no claim to any grazing rights nor believe that they ever held any. They are not 
aware of them exercising any rights. A letter direct from the purchasers confirm their 
belief that their Solicitors can provide the information about the grazing rights. 
Only a few months after the sale, the rights were transferred to the applicants 
separately from the land. 
 
It is therefore advised that, on balance there would appear to be sufficient evidence 
of the rights being severed at various times to end up held in gross by Mr and Mrs 
Huddleston and then Mrs Huddleston and Mr Gillibrand as trustee. They transferred 
the rights to the Applicants in 2002. It may be considered that the severance and 
transfer should now be shown on the Register and the rights shown as jointly held in 
gross by the Applicants. 
 
Consultations 
 
Notice of the application was given to persons appearing in the register to be 
interested in the rights of common as above and also to all parties who have 
requested to be notified of applications under the 2006 Act.  
 
Implications:  
 
This item has the following implications, as indicated: 
 
Risk management 
 
Consideration has been given to the risk management implications associated with 
this proposal.  The Sub-Committee is advised that, provided the decision is taken in 
accordance with the advice and guidance given, and is based upon relevant 
information contained in the report, there are no significant risks associated with the 
decision-making process. 
 

Page 11



 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 
List of Background Papers 
 
Paper Date Contact/Directorate/Tel 
 
File 3.571 

 
 

 
Jane Turner, Office of Chief 
Executive, 01772 532813 
 

 
Reason for inclusion in Part II, if appropriate 
 
N/A 
 

Page 12



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
A

Page 13



Page 14



Appendix B

Page 15



Page 16



 
 

Commons and Town Greens Sub-Committee 
Meeting to be held on 22 September 2011 
 

Electoral Division affected: 
Whitworth 

 
 
Section 16 Commons Act 2006 
Application to de-register common land CL165 at Crook Hill, Whitworth, 
Lancashire and to provide replacement land  
(Appendices 'A', 'B', and 'C' refer) 
 
Contact for further information: 
Jane Turner, 01772 532813, Office of the Chief executive, 
jane.turner@lancashire.gov.uk  
Daniel Herbert, 01254 770960, Environment Directorate, 
daniel.herbert@lancashire.gov.uk  
 

 
Executive Summary 
 
To consider whether the County Council joins in as applicant with an application to 
de-register a corridor of Common Land on CL165 in connection with that part of the 
application land which is a publicly maintainable highway. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That the Sub-Committee agrees to Lancashire County Council becoming a joint 
applicant in an application already submitted to the Secretary of State under section 
16 of the Commons Registration Act 2006 for the de-registration of a corridor of 
common land on CL165 to allow the construction of a wind farm at Crook Hill and for 
the designation of replacement land making it clear that it is as an owner in respect 
of the highway land only and noting concern as to the sufficiency of exchange land 
and that the Secretary of State should ensure that the agreement to re-register 
sufficiently binds the land, that the affect on public access is not understated and 
that there is still a requirement for an agreement to be entered into with the 
developer as to the works being done on highways within and near the application 
land. 
 

 
Background and Advice  
 
Coronation Power Ltd is proposing to develop a wind farm at Crook Hill which is 
situated on the edge of the County of Lancashire. The proposed development site 
covers registered common land within the boundaries of Lancashire County Council, 
Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council and Rochdale Metropolitan Borough 
Council.  
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 17



 
 

A number of planning applications have been submitted to each of the authorities in 
relation to the development within their respective administrative boundaries. For 
Lancashire the Planning Authority is Rossendale Borough Council. 
 
Coronation Power Ltd submitted an appeal to the Secretary of State in 2009 
regarding non-determination and refusal of planning applications submitted to 
Calderdale, Rochdale and Rossendale. The Secretary of State allowed the appeals 
and granted planning permission. 
  
Coronation Power Ltd has subsequently submitted planning applications to revise 
the approved schemes to the three planning authorities. Rochdale MBC granted 
permission and issued a decision notice on 23rd June 2011. Calderdale MBC 
resolved to approve the application in July subject to a number of conditions. 
Negotiations on those conditions are continuing with United Utilities and a formal 
decision notice has not yet been issued (as at 1st September 2011). Rossendale 
have not yet determined the application they have received, having deferred a 
decision until the outcome of an application regarding rock extraction at Middle Hill 
Quarry has been determined by Rochdale MBC. 
 
As planning permission for the wind farm development has been granted by the 
Secretary of State, Coronation Power Ltd now need to resolve the issues 
surrounding the carrying out of construction works. Section 38 of the Commons Act 
2006 prohibits 'restricted works' on Common Land without consent from the 
Secretary of State. 
 
The common land affected by the development within Lancashire is unit CL165. The 
main construction work required on CL165 relates to the construction of an access 
route to the turbines on Crook Hill. Instead of applying for consent to carry out such 
works on Common Land, the owner of CL165, Mr Dearden, Lord of the Manor has 
applied for a corridor of land to be de-registered and no longer recorded as Common 
Land. The corridor to be de-registered accommodates the route of the proposed 
access road but also includes existing lengths of public highway (Appendix 'C' 
refers). The corridor initially follows the line of the highway called Landgate and is 
also crossed by a number of public footpaths and bridleways as it continues to the 
County boundary. The area of highway affected is 4,260.2 square metres (0.426 ha) 
and Coronation Power Ltd have included the land with highway rights on the surface 
in the application to remove it from the area of registered Common Land (Appendix 
'A' refers).  
 
Under s16 Commons Act 2006 the owner of any land registered as common land is 
the person who can apply to the Secretary of State for the land to cease to be so 
registered. If the release land is more than 200 square metres the application must 
include a proposal that some replacement land be registered as common land in 
place of the release land. In determining the application the Secretary of State shall 
have regard to interests of those having rights on or occupying the release land; the 
interests of the neighbourhood; the public interest (including nature conservation, 
conservation of landscape, protection of public rights of access and protection of 
archaeological remains and features of historic interest); and any other relevant 
matter. Consents of any leaseholders or charge holders of the land are required and 
owners of replacement land have to join in the application. 

Page 18



 
 

Under S61 an "owner" is the holder of the legal estate in fee simple. 
 
It is advised that although the surface of publicly maintainable highways is vested in 
the County Council, the title is not a pure fee simple but is a determinable fee simple. 
It is considered that this is sufficient title to be an "owner" under the Commons Act.  
 
The Application, which is already submitted, applies for common land to be de-
registered (release land) and offers exchange land to be new common land 
(replacement land). The application affecting a corridor of land on CL165 in 
Lancashire may result in the release of 6.98ha of land (which includes the 0.462ha of 
highway). An area of 1.6ha is being offered as replacement land immediately 
adjacent to CL165 and within the County boundary. The application also seeks to 
de-register common land on CL166, CL172 and CL168 being about 22.82ha. A 
further area of 2.397ha is being offered as replacement land but this is outside the 
Lancashire boundary and within the boundary of Rochdale MBC at Long Clough 
Farm, Littleborough to the south of CL168.  
 
The Applicant realises that the replacement land is a lot less than the release land 
and following completion of the construction work it is planned to re-register the 
released land that is not required for the day to day operation of the wind farm. 
Within CL165 the area of land to be re-registered is 4.98ha. 2.0ha of land is to be 
removed from the register as it will not be available for use as common land as a 
result of the wind farm operational requirements. It is stated that all land will be re-
registered once the wind farm is de-commissioned. 
 

Summary of land position 
 

• Area to be de-registered (released)    6.98ha 

• Area to be removed 
(deregistered until the wind farm is de-commissioned)  2.00ha 
(includes the access tracks) 

• Area to be re-registered on completion of construction work 4.98ha 

• Area to of replacement land within Lancashire   1.60ha 
(although shown as 1.68ha on plan) 

• Shortfall of         0.40ha 
 

 
Attached at Appendix 'A' is a plan of the proposed wind farm site and layout of 
turbines and access roads and showing the area of CL165 and the area of 
replacement land within Lancashire. 
 
The Application which has been submitted is attached at Appendix 'B'. 
 
Highways within the corridor of release land are shown on a plan at Appendix 'C'. 
 
The fact that some of the land within the corridor of release land is highway raises a 
particular issue. 
 
The surface of all highways (whatever sort, vehicular, footpath or bridleway) which 
are publicly maintainable is vested in the Highway Authority by virtue of S263 

Page 19



 
 

Highways Act 1980. This is advised to be sufficient interest to mean that it is the 
Highway Authority who is the owner in respect of the highway land. For the highway 
land to be considered for de-registration it is therefore suggested that the highway 
authority be also an applicant.  
 
If the Highway Authority does not join the application it is possible that the Secretary 
of State will have to leave the highway land out of the application and it would remain 
as part of the Common Land. The Sub-Committee will note that there is a suggestion 
that there may be a need even for a Highway authority to apply for consent for works 
where the highway is on Common Land. This would need to be investigated and 
clarified but by joining in the application to de-register seeking de-registration of 
highway this possible need for consent is removed if the application was successful.  
 
The Sub-Committee are asked to consider the view below of the developer and 
DEFRA and to note that Lancashire County Council has not objected to the planning 
application. 
 
In a similar application earlier this year Calderdale MBC was asked as highway 
authority to join in an application under S16 and agreed to do so.  
 
It is advised that it is the County Council’s discretion as to whether to join in the 
application but it is the case that the authority must exercise its discretion 
reasonably. In this matter its decision is not to be based on whether a wind farm is 
thought to be appropriate.  
 
If the view is taken that it would be appropriate to join in the application it is 
suggested that the Sub-Committee should take the opportunity to state any concerns 
it has about the S16 application itself given the criteria to be considered by the 
Secretary of State and to remind the Secretary of State about various matters. 
Officers have noted some matters in the recommendation but the Sub-Committee 
may consider others or alternative points to be better made.    
 
Consultations 
 
Coronation Power Ltd have been asked to state why the County Council should be a 
joint applicant with Mr Dearden in respect of the corridor on CL165 and say as 
follows – 

 
The applicant still wishes the highway authority to enter into the application 
and feels it is imperative to do so. 
We have carefully considered the law in this area and there is some argument 
to be made that the authority does need to enter into the application. We 
believe this is also the stance of DEFRA.  
 

On this basis, the Sub-Committee is advised that it is better to take a careful 
approach to avoid an important infrastructure project being jeopardised by being at 
the risk of facing a legal challenge into the validity of its consents in the high court. 
It is important to ensure that all areas needed for works for the wind farm are de-
registered so that we do not fall foul of the s38 of the Commons Act. De-registering 
all land needed, ensures that there can be no argument that works are prohibited. 

Page 20



 
 

This does not of course undermine any future agreements that will need to be 
agreed with the authority for works to Landgate. Works are likely to be improvement 
of roads and laying of cables but may be more. 
 
On this basis as the authority has not objected to the scheme and that the de-
registration can only be neutral or positive for the authority, we request the authority 
enter into the scheme. 
 
DEFRA have also made the following statement – 
 
In relation to an application for de-registration and exchange of registered common 
land under s.16 of the Commons Act 2006, the Secretary of State would expect to 
see the highway authority join in the application insofar as the release land, or the 
replacement land, is also publicly maintainable highway.  I am assuming that there is 
no dispute as to whether, in the circumstances contemplated, the highway is indeed 
publicly maintainable (the position is a little more abstruse in relation to public paths). 
Here is our analysis: 

• S.16 provides in subsection (1): “The owner of any land registered as 
common land or as town or village green may apply to the appropriate 
national authority for the land (‘the release land’) to cease to be so 
registered.” 

• ‘Owner’ is interpreted in s.61 as “references to the ownership or the owner of 
any land are references to the ownership of a legal estate in fee simple in the 
land or to the person holding that estate.” 

• Under s.263(1) of the Highways Act 1980, highway maintainable at the public 
expense, together with the materials and scrapings of it, vest in the authority 
who are for the time being the highway authority for the highway. 

• According to Halsbury’s Laws of England paragraph 227, the interest vested 
in the authority under s.263(1) is a legal estate in fee simple determinable in 
the event of the street or road ceasing to be a public highway and, according 
to footnote 7 of that paragraph, the Law of Property Act 1925 s.7(1) treats this 
interest as a fee simple absolute for the purposes of that Act. 

• Therefore, the interest of the highways authority does fall within the definition 
of ‘owner’ in s.61(3) of the 2006 Act, being the holder of the legal estate in fee 
simple in the release or replacement land.   

 
It’s worth referring to the judgment of the Court of Appeal in Tithe Redemption 
Commission v Runcorn UDC (1954) especially as it was quoted with approval in 
another very recent Court of Appeal case — R (oao) Smith v Land Registry [2010] 
EWCA Civ 200.  Admittedly the Court of Appeal in Smith did not examine the 
argument as to whether or not the court in Runcorn was correct to rule that the Local 
Government Act 1929 was a “similar statute” within the meaning of section 7 of the 
Law of Property Act 1925 and hence was operational in vesting the fee simple 
absolute in the highways authority. However, Lady Justice Arden in Smith did quote 
paragraphs from Evershed MR’s judgment in Runcorn with approval, and herself 
state “Lthis court held in Tithe Redemption that the statutory vesting of a highway in 
the highway authority operated to vest in the highway authority a determinable fee 
simple in the surface of the land.” 
 

Page 21



 
 

The extract from Halsbury’s is a little confusing, because paragraph 227 begins: 
“The effect of the statutory provisions vesting highways in highway authorities is not 
to transfer the fee simple absolute in the land to the authorityLbut merely to vest in 
the authority the property in the surface of the street or road.”  But what the passage 
(and its footnotes) is in fact emphasising, is that section 236 does not directly 
transfer the fee simple, but rather the effect of section 7 of the Law of Property Act 
1925, as interpreted by the Court of Appeal in the Runcorn case, is to vest the fee 
simple absolute in the authority.  
 
While I have acknowledged that the position may seem odd, it is also relevant to the 
functions of the highway authority.  Should land become common land (if it is 
replacement land, and the owner must therefore join in the application under 
subsection (5)(c)), then the effect of the change of status would mean that the 
highway authority would have to apply to the appropriate authority for resurfacing 
and possibly other maintenance works under s.38.  Similarly if highway land is 
released from its status as common land, the authority will no longer be under such 
an obligation. 
 
Implications:  
 
This item has the following implications, as indicated: 
 
Risk management 
 
Legal 
 
The section 16 application is required to allow the construction of a wind farm for 
which there is planning approval in place from the Secretary of State. Should a 
decision be taken to not join the application with Coronation Power Ltd then 
Lancashire County Council could be seen to be frustrating the planning process and 
preventing approved development leading to legal challenges and possible financial 
penalties along with damage to Lancashire County Council's reputation. 
 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 
List of Background Papers 
 
Paper Date Contact/Directorate/Tel 
 
File 3.643 

 
 

 
Jane Turner, Office of Chief 
Executive, 01772 532813 
 

Reason for inclusion in Part II, if appropriate 
 
N/A 
 
 

Page 22



Appendix A
Page 23



Page 24



Appendix B

Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



R
e

fe
re

n
c
e

R
o

a
d

/F
o

o
tp

a
th

A
v
e

ra
g

e
 

W
id

th
 

(m
)

L
e

n
g

th
 

(m
)

A
re

a
 

(s
q

.m
)

S
u

rf
a

c
e

 

M
a

te
ri

a
l

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts

A

L
a
n
d
 G

a
te

 -
 F

ro
m

 

Ju
n
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
M

a
rk

e
t 

S
tr

e
e
t 

to
 C

a
tt

le
 G

ri
d

8
.2

m
3
7

3
0
3
.4

T
a
rm

a
c

B

L
a
n
d
 G

a
te

 -
 F

ro
m

 C
a
tt

le
 

G
ri
d
 t

o
 J

u
n
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 

D
u
c
k
w

o
rt

h
 L

in
k
 R

o
a
d

4
.6

3
7
5

1
7
5
0

T
a
rm

a
c

C

D
u
c
k
w

o
rt

h
 L

in
k
 R

o
a
d

5
1
2

6
0

T
a
rm

a
c

D
F

o
o
tp

a
th

 2
6

3
.6

3
1
7

1
0
7
7
.8

U
n
b
o
u
n
d
 s

to
n
e
 

a
n
d
 b

ri
c
k

E
B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 3

0
3
.0

*
4
0

1
2
0

G
ra

s
s

U
n
a
b
le

 t
o
 f
in

d
 

tr
a
c
k
 s

o
 a

s
u
m

e
d
 

w
id

th
 i
s
 t

h
e
 

m
in

im
u
m

 a
llo

w
e
d

F
B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 2

7
3
.0

*
6
0

1
8
0

G
ra

s
s

U
n
a
b
le

 t
o
 f
in

d
 

tr
a
c
k
 s

o
 a

s
u
m

e
d
 

w
id

th
 i
s
 t

h
e
 

m
in

im
u
m

 a
llo

w
e
d

G
F

o
o
tp

a
th

 3
0
a

3
.0

*
5
7

1
7
1

G
ra

s
s

U
n
a
b
le

 t
o
 f
in

d
 

tr
a
c
k
 s

o
 a

s
u
m

e
d
 

w
id

th
 i
s
 t

h
e
 

m
in

im
u
m

 a
llo

w
e
d

H
B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 1

3
8

3
.6

1
3
1

4
7
1
.6

U
n
b
o
u
n
d
 s

to
n
e
 

a
n
d
 b

ri
c
k

I
F

o
o
tp

a
th

 2
8

3
.4

1
6

5
4
.4

G
ra

s
s

J
F

o
o
tp

a
th

 2
7
b

3
.6

2
0

7
2

U
n
b
o
u
n
d
 s

to
n
e
 

a
n
d
 b

ri
c
k

L
C

C
 O

w
n

e
d

 R
o

a
d

s 
a

n
d

 F
o

o
tp

a
th

s 
w

it
h

in
 t

h
e

 P
ro

p
o

se
d

 A
c
c
e

ss
 R

o
a

d

P
ro
p
o
s
e
d
re
le
a
s
e
la
n
d

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
C

Page 49



Page 50



 
 

Commons and Town Greens Sub-Committee 
Meeting to be held on 22 September 2011 
 

Electoral Division affected: 
None 

 
Consultation by the Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs 
(DEFRA) on the Registration of New Town or Village Greens 
(Appendices 'A' and 'B' refer) 
 
Contact for further information: 
Jane Turner, 01772 532813, Office of the Chief Executive,  
Jane.turner@lancashire.gov.uk 
 

 
Executive Summary 
 
This report sets out the proposals and questions by DEFRA from their consultation 
on the registration of new town or village greens. The consultation ends on 17 
October 2011. 
 
Recommendation 
 
The Sub-Committee is asked to: 
 
i. Consider the proposals and questions raised in the consultation; 
ii. Agree responses to all questions raised in the consultation in order for the 

County Council to provide its response to DEFRA before the consultation 
closes on 17 October 2011. 

 

 
Background and Advice  
 
On 25 July 2011, DEFRA issued a consultation seeking views on proposals to 
reform the system for the registration of new town or village greens. The full 
consultation document is attached at Appendix 'A'. However, this report sets out the 
proposals which are suggested and the questions DEFRA want a response to along 
with some matters the Sub-Committee may wish to consider and comment on. 
 
It is understood that around 185 applications for the registration of new town or 
village greens were made in 2009. As a result of this, DEFRA felt that the volume of 
applications, the character of the application land, the controversy the applications 
attracted, the cost of the determination process on all parties and the impact of 
registration on a landowner had given rise for increased concern. 
 
The Government has already announced its intention to introduce a Local Green 
Spaces designation through the planning system and this Consultation now presents 
other proposals of reform to achieve an improved regulatory balance between 
protecting high quality green space valued by local communities and enabling 

Agenda Item 7

Page 51



 
 

development to occur at the right place at the right time. There is also a desire to 
reduce the burden on authorities and landowners. There is the option to leave the 
present system as is. DEFRA ask Question 1 (see Appendix 'A'). 
 
The proposals are as follows: 
 

• Proposal 1 
To stream line the sifting of applications to ensure that weak or vexatious 
applications are filtered out at early stage by introducing an initial stage for 
applications having invited comments from owners. The authority would be 
empowered to reject. Given that applicants can have up to 2 years to put their 
application together, it is expected that applications will be as good as they 
can be and this would enable rejection because evidence is insufficient. 

 
It is advised however that some Greens have successfully been registered on 
very little user evidence and so using this power may be difficult to justify 
using in reality. 
DEFRA ask Q2 and Q3 (see Appendix 'A'). 

 

• Proposal 2 
Enabling an owner to make a declaration and deposit a map with the authority 
for a fee, (having to renew it every 10 years) that any use for sports and 
pastimes cannot be treated "as of right" and will be an interruption and will 
counter town green user evidence. DEFRA think local communities will need 
to be aware of this challenge. 

 
This may lead to a flurry of claims on learning about these declarations being 
made but in the long run will mean that land cannot be claimed. 
DEFRA ask Q4 and Q5 (see Appendix 'A'). 

 

• Proposal 3 
DEFRA think that there is a popular perception of a "green" but there is not a 
test that the land has to be of a particular "character" at the moment. The 
proposal is that land cannot be registered unless open, unenclosed and 
uncultivated possibly also looking at how central it is to a community, 
commemorative structures, functional community structures, historic 
characteristics or evidence of former grazing. 

 
DEFRA consider that land can be "unenclosed" when it is bounded by 
highways or by dwellings built to overlook it whereas land enclosed by fencing 
or where dwellings do not overlook but are divided by tall fencing would not 
and feels that fields, public parks and playing fields would be likely to fail the 
character test. 
DEFRA ask Q6 and Q7 (see Appendix 'A'). 

 

• Proposal 4 
That land proposed for development - having full or outline planning 
permission or protected by Local Greens designation in an adopted or 
published neighbourhood or local plan- should not be able to be registered. 

 

Page 52



 
 

It is noted that Landowners would not be able to protect land by getting 
planning permission but then letting it expire without an application then being 
able to be made. 
DEFRA ask Q8 and Q9 (see Appendix 'A'). 

 

• Proposal 5 
The cost to an authority can be many thousands to adjudicate an application. 
It is proposed that applicants pay a fee, possibly refundable if their application 
succeeds. 

 
This may preclude vexatious applications. There may have to be only a partial 
refund if only some land is registrable. 
DEFRA ask Q10, Q11 and Q12 (see Appendix 'A'). 

 

• Proposal 6 
The package of proposals all affect the number or type of applications. 
DEFRA discuss the cumulative effect and ask if all should be made 
DEFRA ask Q13 (see Appendix 'A'). 

 

• Proposal 7 
At the moment an owner can "dedicate" a green. The proposal is that a 
"character" test also apply to such land. 
DEFRA ask Q14 (see Appendix 'A'). 

 

• Further questions asked by DEFRA Q15, Q16 and Q17 (see Appendix 'A') 
invite further suggestions to help deliver the objectives and ask if the reforms 
should go further. 

 
It is hoped that a response to each question can be decided on by the Sub-
Committee at the meeting.  DEFRA is seeking responses from Consultees by 17 
October 2011. 
 
Consultations 
 
DEFRA has sought responses from the Consultees listed in Appendix 'B' attached. 
 
Implications:  
 
This item has the following implications, as indicated: 
 
Risk management 
 
It is not thought that by replying to a consultation the authority is placed at risk.  
 

Page 53



 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 
List of Background Papers 
 
Paper Date Contact/Directorate/Tel 
 
DEFRA Consultation on the 
Registration of new town or 
village Greens  
 

 
July 2011 

 
Jane Turner, Office of Chief 
Executive, 01772 532813 
 

Reason for inclusion in Part II, if appropriate 
 
N/A 
 

Page 54



Appendix A

Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Appendix B

Page 111



Page 112


	Agenda
	2 Constitution: Chair and Deputy Chair; Membership; Terms of Reference of the Commons and Town Greens Sub-Committee
	Appendix A

	4 Minutes of the Meeting held on 7 February 2011
	5 Commons Act 2006  Schedule 3 Commons Registration (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2009  Application for the Amendment of a Register in relation to Rights of Common being grazing rights registered as Entry 3 in the Rights section of Register Unit CL123, Black fell, Blanch Fell and Haylot Fell Littledale, Lancaster
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	6 Section 16 Commons Act 2006 Application to de-register common land CL165 at Crook Hill, Whitworth, Lancashire and to provide replacement land
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	7 Consultation by the Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) on the Registration of New Town or Village Greens
	Appendix A
	Appendix B


